IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CYNTHIA G. OWEN

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00734

WILLIAM SHURDEN OWEN

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF SUNFLOWER COUNTY

David M. Sessums, Interest ATTORNEY FOR CYNTHIA G. OWEN, APPELLANT VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS 1110 Jackson St.
Vicksburg, MS 39181
Ph: (601)638-8741

OF COUNSEL:

VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS, P.A. Post Office Box 1237 1110 Jackson Street Vicksburg, Mississippi 39181-1237

Telephone: 601/638-8741 Facsimile: 601/638-8666

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 6
ARGUMENT 8
FACTS 8
LAW
THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING ALIMONY
THE COURT ERRED IN ITS AWARD OF EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION 24
THE DENIAL OF ATTORNEYS FEES
CHILD SUPPORT
CONCLUSION 32
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

- 1. <u>Armstrong v Armstrong</u>, 618 So. 2d 1278 (1993)
- 2. <u>Hemsley v Hemsley</u>, 639 So. 2d 909 (Miss 1994)
- 3. <u>Monroe v. Monroe</u>, 745 So. 2d 249 (Miss. 1999)
- 4. <u>Box v. Box</u>, 622 So. 2d 284 (Miss. 1993)
- 5. <u>Johnson v. Johnson</u>, 877 So. 2d 485 (Miss. App. 2003)
- 6. Henderson v. Henderson, 757 So. 2d 285 (Miss. 2000)
- 7. Garriga v. Garriga, 777 So. 2d 978 (Miss App. 2000)
- 8. <u>Langdon v. Langdon</u>, 854 So. 2d 485 (Miss. App. 2003)
- 9. <u>Haney v. Haney</u>, 907 So. 2d 948 (Miss. 2005)
- 10. Fisher v. Fisher, 771 So. 2d 364 (Miss. 2000)
- 11. Spahn v. Spahn, 959 So. 2d 8, (Miss. App. 2006)
- 12. Southerland v. Southerland, 875 So. 2d 204 (Miss 2004)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Chancellor erred in not awarding alimony to Cindy Owen.
- 2. The Chancellor erred in not making a greater award or distribution of the marital assets of the marriage to Cindy Owen.
- 3. The Chancellor erred in not requiring Shurden Owen to pay Cindy Owen's reasonable attorneys fees and costs.
 - 4. The Chancellor erred in setting child support too low.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cynthia G. Owen (hereinafter "Cindy") and William Shurden Owen (hereinafter "Shurden") were married on October 5, 1989, in Drew, Mississippi and are the parents of one (1) child, Meredith Kristen Owen (hereinafter "Meredith") born March 16, 1995.

During the marriage of the parties Shurden, and Cindy to a less physical degree, engaged in farming operations in Sunflower County, Mississippi. After the birth of Meredith, Cindy worked at various jobs outside of the marriage while still assisting with the farming operations. On February 27, 2006, Cindy filed her Complaint for Divorce and Other Relief against Shurden on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, addiction to alcohol, adultery or claimed that in the alternative the marriage of the parties had met with irreconcilable differences. (R1, Pg 8)

On April 27, 2006, Shurden filed his Answer and Counter-Complaint for Divorce denying the allegations of Cindy's complaint and charging Cindy with habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, adultery, and addiction to drugs and alcohol. (R1, Pg 27)

On May 23, 2007, the parties filed their Joint Motion to Bifurcate and requested the Court to proceed to entry of a Final Judgment of Divorce between the parties on the grounds of irreconcilable differences and to award custody of Meredith to Cindy with reasonable rights of visitation to Shurden and reserved all other issues between the parties for further evidentiary proceedings and testimony. (R1, Pg 59)

On May 23, 2007, the Court entered its Final Judgment of Divorce granting the parties a divorce from each other on the grounds of irreconcilable differences and awarding the care of Meredith to Cindy with reasonable rights of visitation to Shurden and reserved all other matters arising out of or relating to the marriage for trial scheduled for June 21-22, 2007. (R1, Pg 63)

The matter was tried before the Chancellor on June 22, 2007, and after taking evidence and exhibits from the parties and having heard testimony the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 25, 2008. (R1, Pg 69-82)

The Court identified the marital assets of the parties as certain items of personal property, 80 acres of farm land purchased solely in Shurden's name during the course of the marriage, two shares of stock purchased by Shurden in a hunting camp self valued by Shurden at \$90,000.00, a 2005 Ford F250 valued at \$20,000.00, a 2005 Ford Excursion with equity of \$15,000.00, Cindy's retirement account with the State of Mississippi with a balance of \$15,000.00, and a whole life insurance policy with a value of \$6,000.00 to \$7,000.00, a one million dollar term life policy on Shurden, with Cindy as the beneficiary, and the Court found that the parties had approximately \$93,000.00 in marital debt. (R1, Pg 76)

The Court found that Shurden had a 19.13 % interest in Shurden Land Partnership, including the land and structures owned by the partnership, but that same was a non-marital asset and found that Cindy's collection of jewelry gifted to her by Shurden had an approximate value of \$50,000.00 and was a non-marital asset. (R1, Pg 77)

The Court found that both parties had contributed to the accumulation of the items found by the Court to be marital property and that both parties had expended assets during the course of the marriage. (R1, Pg 78)

The Court also found that Shurden's interest in the Shurden Land Partnership had value to Shurden because he had the use and benefit of the residences and structures owned by the partnership. (R1, Pg 78)

The Court proceeded to divide the marital assets as follows:

- 1. That Shurden would take steps to sell or transfer his shares of the hunting stock with an approximate value according to him of \$90,000.00, with the proceeds to go to Cindy, and that in the event Shurden was unable to liquidate his shares of stock within six (6) months he would be required to make payments of \$15,000.00 every six (6) months for three (3) years. (R1, Pgs 78-79)
- 2. That Shurden would resume responsibility of all the marital credit card debt in the approximate sum of \$93,000.00. (R1, Pg 79)
- 3. That Shurden would continue to own the 80 acres of farm land owned solely in his name.
- 4. That Shurden would have no rights to Cindy's retirement account.
- 5. That Cindy would be allowed to cash in the life insurance policy with a cash value between \$6,000.00 and \$7,000.00.
- 6. That each party would be entitled to the vehicle then driven by them with Shurden remaining responsible for the note of Cindy's vehicle and the insurance on same until it was paid off.
- 7. That Cindy would execute any and all documentation necessary to transfer her interest in W & C Owen Partnership to Shurden and be relieved of any and all liability associated therewith.
- 8. Made a division of personal property between the parties. (R1, Pg 79)

The Court reasoned that under this distribution Cindy would have approximately \$100,000.00 in cash or cash equivalence and would be debt free reasoning that this decision essentially awarded all the parties liquid and unencumbered marital assets to Cindy and transferred all the marital credit

card debt to Shurden and that this was equitable given the trust income Shurden enjoyed (guaranteed \$50,000.00 annually) and Shurden's continued use and benefits of the assets of Shurden Land Partnership. (R1, Pg 79)

In addressing Cindy's alimony request the Court observed that Shurden, even if he stopped farming and had no farming income, would continue by his own admission to make \$50,000.00 annually from trust income while Cindy made approximately \$30,000.00 from her job with the State of Mississippi and found on this basis that the needs of each party did not dictate an award of alimony. (R1, Pg 80)

The Court found that Shurden's adjusted gross income could be "characterized as less than \$9,000.00 per year" (R1, Pg 81) [yet found he could pay \$15,000.00 twice a year for three years; R1, Pgs. 78-79] and acknowledged that if he received nothing from farming he would still earn approximately \$50,000.00 in trust income each year. On this reasoning the Court found that Shurden would have an adjusted gross income of \$4,166.67 per month (\$50,000.00 ÷12) and used this figure to set child support payable by Shurden to Cindy at \$583.83 per month. (R1, Pgs 81-82) Where the \$15,000.00 twice a year would come from was not clear.

Finally, the Court found that Cindy did not have an inability to pay her attorneys fees and costs and that there was no disparity in the relative financial positions of the parties and on this basis declined Cindy's request for an award of attorneys fees and costs. (R1, Pg 82) (Plaintiff's Exhibit #3 in evidence is \$9,704.00)

On February 5, 2008, Cindy filed her Motion to Reconsider requesting the Court to modify its ruling regarding alimony and assets of the marriage of the parties as well as Cindy's request for attorneys fees (R1 Pg 86). On March 31, 2008, the Chancellor entered her Order denying Cindy's

Motion to Reconsider in all respects. (R1, Pg 110)

In April 28, 2008, Cindy filed her Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment of January 25, 2008, and the Court's Order denying her Motion for Reconsideration dated March 31, 2008. (R1, Pg 111)

In her Designation of the Record Cindy designated, "all clerks papers, trial transcripts, and exhibits filed, taken or offered" in the case. (R1, Pg 113)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Shurden's own CPA expert witness conservatively estimated Shurden's interest in the W & C Owen Partnership at \$359,260.00 and that Cindy's interest in this partnership was also \$359,260.00. (R3, Pg. 192) The lower court erred in awarding Cindy \$100,000.00 in equitable distribution.

The Court erred in finding that Shurden only had a 19.13 % interest in the Shurden Land Partnership. Shurden's actual beneficial ownership in the Shurden Land Partnership is 50.7% due to his various ownership in the other entities which in turn own interests in the Shurden Land Partnership.

The Shurden Land Partnership owns and farms 2,904 acres of land while Shurden himself individually owns 80 acres solely in his name. All of the assets of the Shurden Land Partnership, Shurden's individual ownership of the 80 acres of land, as well as all of the parties' interests in W&C Owen Partnership, Owen Planing Company Partnership, S&T Farms, Inc., S&H Farms, Inc. were awarded to Shurden. In contrast, Cindy was awarded her jewelry, some furniture, \$7,000.00 in the cash value of a life insurance policy on Shurden and \$90,000.00 in the form of Shurden's liquidation of his shares of the hunting camp stock. Shurden has the former marital home, the

acreage, all of the farming equipment and enjoyed \$50,000.00 in income each year from a trust fund.

The Court was in error in rejecting the evidence from Cindy's expert that, contrary to what was shown on the couple's tax returns, the couple had available income for the year 2000 of \$299,885.000, for 2001 the sum of \$431,273.00, for 2002 the sum of \$296,498.00, for 2003 the sum of \$221,223.00, for 2004 the sum of \$239,487.00 and for the last year for which returns were available, 2005 the sum of \$256,389.00.

The Court further erred in accepting the absurdly incredible testimony of Lewis Jackson, Shurden's CPA, that in the seven years prior to trial Shurden earned less than minimum wage. Also, the lower court erred in accepting this expert's testimony at trial that Shurden's net worth was a mere \$30,854.00.

In contrast, the Court also erred in rejecting the testimony of Cindy's expert looking at the actual income, assets and liabilities of the parties, rather than self serving tax returns, Shurden had a net worth of \$1,995,656.00.

The Court was plainly in error in awarding Cindy only \$100,000.00 in equitable distribution.

Even though Shurden admittedly has a guaranteed \$50,000.00 income each year from his trust, or rather because of it, the Court erred in using this figure, and this figure only, in setting child support at \$588.33 a month based on 14% of an adjusted gross income of \$4,166.67 per month $($50,000.00 \div 12)$.

Cindy made \$28,639.20 a year before taxes working for the Mississippi State Public Service Commission for a monthly income of \$2,386.60 a month. In contrast Shurden has a guaranteed \$4,166.66 per month in trust income alone. This also ignores the fact that he controls the trust and therefore the amount of income he receives from the trust. Cindy testified that it cost \$6,894.00 a

month to run her household obviously leaving a short fall of \$3,090.72. The lower court erred in denying Cindy's request for alimony.

The lower court erred in denying Cindy's request for payment of attorneys fees which at trial totaled \$9,704.00. (Plaintiff's Exhibit "3")

Even assuming that Shurden sells his two shares in the hunting camp and raises the \$90,000.00 referenced by the Chancellor's order, he has not done so leaving Cindy only her net monthly income and the \$7,000.00 cash value of the life insurance policy as her sole means with which to pay her attorney's fees and obviously the Court's decision denying her request for payment of attorneys fees and costs is error.

Cindy Owen and Shurden Owen were married in August, 1989, and have been married eighteen years. They are the parents of one child, Meredith Owen born in March, 1995. (R2, Pg. 14)

At the time of their marriage both parties had just left Mississippi State University without either of them receiving a degree and moved to the only marital domicile ever known by the parties located at 383 Lumbardy Road, Drew, Mississippi. (R2, Pg. 12) At the time of the hearing Cindy Owen was forty-two years of age (R2, Pg. 8) and working for the State of Mississippi while Shurden Owen was forty years of age farming almost 3,000 acres.

The health of both parties is good while Meredith suffers from asthma and takes regular periodic medication to control same. (R2, Pg. 58) Meredith attended private school prior to the separation of the parties but since the separation of the parties in July, 2006, when Cindy moved out of the marital domicile, Meredith has attended public school in Madison, Mississippi where she resides with Cindy. (R2, Pgs. 14-15)

During the course of the marriage and prior to separation the parties enjoyed an above

resides with Cindy. (R2, Pgs. 14-15)

During the course of the marriage and prior to separation the parties enjoyed an above average standard living, living in a modern three bedroom home with an adjacent swimming pool and pool house. (R2, Pgs. 17-18) The parties were able to take vacations to such places as the Bahamas, Argentina, Orange Beach, Jackson Hole, Wyoming; Colorado and California and took numerous weekend trips to closer destinations. (R2, Pgs. 20-22) During the marriage of the parties, employees of the couple performed lawn maintenance services and household cleaning services all of which were paid for out of the farm income.(R2, Pg. 33)

At the time of the divorce Cindy drove a 2003 Lexus and Mr. Owen drove a 2004 Lexus and the parties also had a 2005 Ford Excursion. (R 2, Pg. 23) The lease payment on Cindy's Lexus alone was \$1,200.00 per month. (R 2, Pg. 23) The Ford Excursion was used for travel by the couple. (R2, Pg. 23)

During the course of the marriage Cindy was unemployed for a one-half year period following Meredith's birth, but thereafter worked for such places as the Family Medicine Clinic, the Doctors and Nurses Weight Loss Clinic, the Bethesda Cancer Treatment Center, (R2, Pgs 12-13) and beginning in 1997 began working for the Mississippi State Public Service Commission (R2, Pgs. 18-19) where she remains employed to date making a gross base salary of \$2,386.60 per month prior to deductions. (R2, Pg. 52) She testified to monthly expenses of \$6,894.00. (R2, Pg. 64).

The evidence establishes that during the course of the marriage Cindy kept the books for the couples' farming operation for the period from January 1996 through the year 2001 (R2, Pg 31) while at the same time continuing her full time employment with the State Public Service Commission. When Shurden took over his cousin's farming operation in the year 2000, Cindy ceased

keeping the books and Nell Jackson, the cousin's former book-keeper, took over the bookkeeping operations.(R2, Pg. 32)

Prior to the separation the couple had three personal vehicles, two trucks and Cindy's Lexus automobile which was leased at the rate of \$1,200.00 per month. The evidence at trial established that both parties had had brief affairs in 1997 but that after full knowledge of the affair of the other each was forgiven by the other and the marital relationship resumed until the separation of the parties in 2006. However, Shurden admitted to another affair in April, 2006, which was not condoned by Cindy. (R2, Pg 26) Both parties admitted to periodic consumption of alcohol with Shurden stating that during the period leading up to the separation of the parties that he consumed large quantities of alcohol to the point that he would go to sleep or, as he admitted on cross examination, "pass out."

In addition to her employment duties and responsibilities Cindy was the one that attended to Meredith's schooling, did the grocery shopping, purchased household supplies, cooked the family's meals, washed and dried the clothes, changed the sheets and kept up with the upkeep and repair of the marital domicile. (R2, Pgs. 35-36)

Shurden Land Partnership was set up in 1997 right after Shurden's mother died in July 1997 (R2, Pg. 37). Being acquired during the marriage of the parties it is obviously a marital asset and the Chancellor erred in finding otherwise. Shurden Land Partnership owns 2,449 acres of land (R2, Pg 39) and 80 acres of land is owned solely in Shurden's name which was purchased after the parties marriage in 1989. (R2, Pg 39-40)

In addition to the acreage farmed by Shurden Land Partnership that partnership also owns a cabin located in Gore Spring located in Grenada County, Mississippi. (R2, Pg 40) This cabin was remodeled with money funneled through Owen Planting Company. (R2, Pg 41) After the parties

separated Shurden bought new furniture for the cabin. (R2, Pg 43)

When the marital residence of the couple burned in 1990 Cindy's parents gave them \$10,000.00 in cash to buy furniture and Cindy's parents also put some \$75,000.00 into renovation of the inside of Shurden's mother's home located on Highway 49 in Sunflower County, Mississippi. (R2, Pg 42-45)

Cindy's mother also gave the couple \$36,000.00 to put in the swimming pool and pool house at the former marital domicile. (R2, pg 46)

Shurden Land Partnership is "owned" by Shurden and his sister Traci Crossland who used to own an equal interest with Shurden. However, when Traci needs money she sells a portion of her interest in Shurden Land Partnership to Shurden for cash and this has occurred on five different occasions. (R2, Pg 47-48)

During the parties marriage their electricity bill, water bill and gas bill were paid out of the farming operation. (R2, Pg 49) After Meredith was born Shurden would give Cindy \$1,500.00 per month (R2, Pg 49) and she would use credit cards when the \$1,500.00 was not enough. (R2, Pg 49)

During the marriage of the parties they acquired a pontoon boat, two jet skis, and various 4-wheelers. (R2, Pg 50)

Cindy testified that it took \$4,000.00 to \$5,000.00 per month to pay the monthly bills. (R2, Pg 51)

During the parties separation Shurden demonstrated his ability to pay more than ordered in the final judgment by paying Cindy \$2,100.00 per month. (R2, Pg 53)

Since the parties separation Cindy was the one paying on all the credit card debt and she started making payments on the credit card debt beginning in February 2006. (R2, Pg 65-66)

During the course of the marriage Shurden gave Cindy an "allowance" of \$1,500.00 per month and if the couples needed any further items Cindy would either charge them to local merchants or charge them on credit cards with full knowledge and approval of Shurden.

A considerable portion of the family's normal living expenses were charged off to the farming operation and Cindy testified, without contradiction by Shurden, that it took approximately \$5,000.00 per month to run the family household. A considerable amount of credit card debt has been accumulated by the parties during the marriage but this was done with full knowledge and consent, or indifference, by Shurden. An example is the purchase of \$14,000.00 in elk horn furniture (R2, Pg. 68), which is still in the marital domicile, and the value of the furniture in the domicile is estimated to be \$50,000.00.(R2, Pg. 68)

Beginning in late 2000 and continuing through the year 2006 and to date of trial Cindy had individually made arrangements to pay on the credit card debt of the parties, initially paying monthly payments of \$1,400.00 which was subsequently reduced to \$690.00 per month but is scheduled to go up to \$1,500.00 per month, Cindy stated without contradiction that she had individually paid \$14,000.00 in the credit card debt of the parties. (R2, Pgs. 65-68) Of the \$2,100.00 Shurden paid in temporary support \$600.00 per month went to insurance for Shurden and Meredith.

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