#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CYNTHIA G. OWEN

#### APPELLANT

**APPELLEE** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00734

WILLIAM SHURDEN OWEN

÷

# On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi Chancery Court No. 2006-0119

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

#### [Oral Argument Not Requested]

S. Todd Jeffreys, MS Bar A POVALL & JEFFREYS, P.A. P. O. Drawer 1199 Cleveland, MS 38732 Phone No. (662) 843-9948 Fax No. (662) 843-9957 Attorney for Appellee

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CYNTHIA G. OWEN

### APPELLANT

APPELLEE

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00734

VS.

#### WILLIAM SHURDEN OWEN

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a Order entered by the Chancery Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi entering its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 25, 2008 following a trial held on June 22, 2007, in reference to the divorce of the parties on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. (R.1, Pgs. 69-85).

#### **B.** Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

On February 27, 2006, Cynthia G. Owen (hereafter "Cindy") filed her Complaint for Divorce and Other Relief against William Shurden Owen (hereafter "Shurden") on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, addiction to alcohol, adultery and claimed that in the alternative the marriage of the parties had been met with irreconcilable differences. (R.1, Pg. 8).

Shurden filed his Answer and Counter-Complaint for Divorce on April 27, 2006, wherein he denied Cindy's allegations and alleged that Cindy was guilty of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, adultery and addiction to drugs and alcohol. (R.1, Pg. 27).

On May 23, 2007, the parties filed their Joint Motion to Bifurcate and requested the court to proceed to entry of a Final Judgment of Divorce between the parties on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. (R.1, Pg. 59). The parties further agreed that Cindy would have primary physical

custody of the parties' minor child, Meredith, with Shurden enjoying reasonable rights of visitation. (R.1, Pg. 59). All other issues between the parties were reserved for evidentiary proceedings and testimony.

On May 23, 2007, the Court entered its Final Judgment of Divorce in accordance with the Joint Motion of the parties. (R.1, Pg. 63).

The matter was tried before the Chancellor on June 22, 2007, and after taking evidence and exhibits from the parties and having heard testimony, the court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 25, 2008. (R.1, Pgs. 69-85).

On February 5, 2008, Cindy filed a Motion to Reconsider requesting that the court modify its ruling regarding alimony and assets of the marriage of the parties as well as her request for attorney's fees. (R.1, Pg. 86). Shurden filed a Response to the Motion to Reconsider on February 8, 2008. (R.1, Pg. 89). On March 31, 2008, the Chancellor entered an Order denying Cindy's Motion to Reconsider in all respects. (R.1, Pg. 110).

On April 28, 2008, Cindy filed her Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of January 25, 2008 and the court's Order denying her Motion for Reconsideration dated March 31, 2008. (R.1, Pg. 111).

#### C. Statement of the Facts

i

Shurden and Cindy were married on August 5, 1989. (R.2, Pg. 11). There is conflicting testimony as to when the parties separated. Cindy testified that the parties separated in July of 2006, but acknowledged that her husband was away from home from October of 2005 through May of 2006. (R.2, Pg. 15). Shurden contended that the parties separated in October of 2005, and the Court noted that Cindy initially filed for a divorce on February 27, 2006. (R.2, Pg. 129). The trial court therefore found that the approximate date of the parties' separation was in October of 2005. (R.1,

Pg. 69). One (1) child was born to the marriage, Meredith Kristen Owen, born March 16, 1995. (R.2, Pg. 14). At the time of the trial, Cindy was forty-two (42) years of age and Shurden was forty (40) years of age. (R.2, Pg. 8, R.2, Pg. 125). Both parties were in relatively good health. (R.2, Pgs. 14-15).

i.

After the parties were married, they moved to Drew, Mississippi. (R.2, Pg. 12). Shurden began farming and has farmed ever since. (R.2, Pg. 126). Shurden does not have a college degree. (R.2, Pg. 126). Cindy has a nursing degree from Mississippi Delta Community College and a Radiology associates degree. (R.2, Pg. 71). Over the course of the marriage, Cindy worked at various healthcare facilities. (R.2, Pgs. 12-14). She also assisted for a time in bookkeeping for Shurden's farming operations. (R.2, Pgs. 30-32). She currently works for the State of Mississippi as a utility investigator. (R.2, Pgs. 18-19). Cindy testified that she has a stable job and has no plans to seek other employment or to retire. (R.2, Pg. 19). Cindy makes \$27,000.00 plus a \$6,000.00 travel allowance annually. (R.2, Pg. 72). During the course of the marriage, Cindy was primarily responsible for the household and childcare duties. (R.2, Pgs. 35-36).

Shurden and Cindy both testified that the early years of their marriage were fairly happy times, and that they liked to socialize and have a good time. (R.2, Pgs. 72, 127). Cindy admitted that she had a nine-month affair in 1997 which resulted in a fourteen-day separation. (R.2, Pg. 72). Shurden likewise admitted that after Cindy's affair, he had a short-lived affair. (R.2, Pg. 132). Both testified that the couple reconciled after this period. (R.2, Pgs. 72, 132).

The parties testified that they had some financial problems in the late 1990's, but that they got control of their credit card debt situation at that time. (R2, Pgs. 34, 130-131). Cindy testified that the parties ultimately separated because Shurden was drinking too much and because he left to go

work on the Mississippi Gulf Coast in the fall of 2005. (R.2, Pgs. 73-76). While Cindy suspected at that time that Shurden was having an affair, she admitted that this was not why the parties separated. (R.2, Pgs. 26-27).

Cindy testified that later during the marriage the parties continued to have money problems and that Shurden was concerned with her spending habits. (R.2, Pg. 34). She testified that she always did "whatever" when it came to spending money and/or using credit cards. (R.2, Pg. 34). At the time of trial, the parties' credit card balances totaled approximately \$93,000.00. (R.2, Pg. 76). Cindy admitted making all of the charges but stated that the charges were made for the family's benefit and that she and Shurden both enjoyed the purchases made on credit. (R.2, Pg. 76). Cindy had two (2) breast augmentations during the marriage, as well as liposuction and botox procedures. (R.2, Pg. 78). Cindy also leased a car, through W & C Owen Partnership, a farming entity discussed *infra*, which carried a monthly lease payment of \$1,200.00. (R.2, Pgs. 23, 80). Shurden acknowledged that he spent money on hunting equipment and hunting trips out West and to South America. (R.2, Pg. 132).

Shurden testified that during the summer of 2005, he believed that Cindy was having an affair. (R.2, Pg. 129). He testified that during this time Cindy left the marital home and stayed elsewhere for extended periods of time. (R.2, Pgs. 129-130). He asserted that Cindy sometimes drank alcohol to excess and smoked marijuana. (R.2, Pg. 74). Shurden admitted that he drank too much alcohol during this time, which may have, in part, led to the parties' separation. (R.2, Pg. 130).

The trial court found that the parties' separation was due to fault on behalf of both of the parties, including past affairs and the appearance of possible affairs during the course of their marriage. (R.1, Pg. 71). Additionally, the separation of the parties was also due to money problems

to which both of the parties contributed. (R.1, Pg. 71). Finally, the trial court found that Shurden's alcohol use, and to a lesser extent, Cindy's alcohol and drug use, played a role in the parties' separation. (R.1, Pg. 71).

During the course of the marriage, the parties accumulated certain assets and/or certain interests in assets. Shurden has a 20% interest in Owen Planting Company which conducts farming operations. (R.3, Pg. 172). He has a 50% interest in both S & T Farms, Inc. and S & H Farms, Inc., which are shell corporations set up for the purposes of receiving farming subsidies. (R.3, Pg. 172, 178). Shurden and Cindy each have a 50% interest in W & C Partnership, which owns farming equipment.<sup>1</sup> (R.3, Pgs. 178-180). Shurden testified that the entity was set up in that fashion to draw government payments. (R.2, Pgs. 142-143). The trial court found that the interest and value of <u>all</u> of the aforementioned entities must be considered together to get an accurate financial picture of the overall farming operations. (R.1, Pg. 72).

Shurden has a 19.12% undivided interest in Shurden Land Partnership. (R.2, Pg. 136). He acquired this interest through inheritance when his mother passed away in 1998. (R.2, Pg. 133). The other ownership interests comprising the partnership are his sister, Tracy Crossland, and two (2) trusts established by Shurden's grandfather and mother at the time of their deaths. (R.3, Pgs. 189-192). This land partnership owns farmland, the parties' marital home, a cabin at Gore Springs, Mississippi, a home on Highway 49 in Drew Mississippi, previously owned by Shurden's mother, and other structures on the farmland. (R.2, Pgs. 133-136). The parties did make improvements over the years to the marital home and the cabin at Gore Springs. (R.2, Pgs. 41-44). Cindy testified that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Shurden's and Cindy's interests in W & C Owen Partnership, in their entirety, are pledged against notes with First National Bank of Rosedale, which is the lender for Shurden's farming operations.

her parents made improvements to the home on Highway 49. (R.2, Pgs. 44-45). Shurden's interests in the land partnership are fully pledged in connection with his farming operations. (R.3, Pgs. 179-180). He also owns fee simple interest in approximately eighty (80) acres of farmland, which is also fully pledged in connection with his farming operations. (R.3, Pgs. 179-180). Shurden owns an interest in two (2) shares of stock in a hunting conservation league, which have an estimated value of \$90,000.00. (R.2, Pgs. 139, 14). Shurden testified that his mother left certain funds in a certificate of deposit for the use and benefit of Meredith Kristen Owen, and that he invested said funds in the conservation league for Meredith's benefit. (R.3, Pg. 152).

Shurden owns a 2005 Ford F250 with an approximate value of \$20,000.00 with no debt owed. (R.2, Pg. 138).<sup>2</sup> Shurden has been making payments on a 2005 Ford Excursion, which Cindy currently drives. (R.2, Pg. 138). He estimated at trial that this vehicle was worth approximately \$27,500.00 and had approximately \$12,500.00 owed on it. (R.2, Pg. 138). Shurden has a . \$1,000,000.00 term life insurance policy with Cindy as the beneficiary. (R.2, Pg. 138).

Cindy's assets consist primarily of jewelry, which was gifted to her over the course of the marriage by Shurden, with an approximate value of \$50,000.00. (R.2, Pg. 132). Cindy also has a retirement account with the State which had a balance of \$15,500.00 in 2005 and a life insurance policy, for which Shurden pays premiums, with a cash value between \$6,000.00 and \$7,000.00. (R.2, Pg. 82).

The parties submitted a list of other personal property items, which the trial court divided. (R.1, Pg. 83).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Contrary to Cindy's argument on page 9 of her brief, Shurden has never owned or driven a Lexus automobile of his own.

Louis Jackson, CPA, testified as to the current net worth of Shurden Owen. He testified that an accurate net worth figure for Shurden is \$30,854.00. (R.3, Pg. 179). This takes into account Shurden's 19.12% undivided interest in the Shurden Land Partnership which equals \$698,556,00 (in accordance with a fair market appraisal) and his interest in eighty (80) acres of farmland appraised at \$145,600.00. (R.3, Pg. 178). Mr. Jackson utilized Defendant's Exhibit 7 to explain the valuations of the farming business interests to compute a total asset figure for Shurden in the amount of \$905,621.00.3 (R.3, Pgs. 1760179). On the liability side, Mr. Jackson listed credit card debt and accrued interest at First National Bank of Rosedale, as well as long-term debt in the amount of \$575,000.00 with First National Bank of Rosedale and a contingent liability in the amount of \$564,958.00. (R.3, Pgs. 179-180). Mr. Jackson also gave Cindy a credit, for her interest in W & C Owen Partnership, which owns farming equipment, in the amount of \$359,526.00, which reduced Shurden's overall liabilities. (R.3, Pg. 179). Thus, Shurden's liabilities are \$874,767.00, which, when subtracted from his assets, reflects a net worth of \$30,854.00. (R.3, Pg. 179). Mr. Jackson testified that this was an accurate picture of Shurden's current financial condition because if he quit farming, he would owe \$941,000.00 after he sold his crops, collected farm subsidy payments and paid off all accounts payable. (R.3, Pg. 180). Additionally, he would owe \$575,000.00 in long-term debt. If Shurden's equipment and land were liquidated at the appraised values, he would simply be left with approximately \$30,000.00. (R.3, Pg. 180).

i

Edward Buckner, III, testified on behalf of Cindy that Shurden Owen's net worth was \$1,990,656.00. (R.2, Pg. 107). (He had previously authored a report, D-16, which estimated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Shurden's interest in W & C Owen Partnership was valued at \$359,526.00. His interest in Owen Planting Company was valued at -\$188,319.00. His interests in S & T Farms, Inc. and S & H Farms, Inc. were each valued at -\$94,159.00.

Shurden's net worth at \$656,530.00.) (R.2, Pg. 116). However, he used a December 31, 2005 appraisal value for farm equipment and acknowledged said equipment had depreciated since that time. (R.2, Pg. 117). Additionally, Mr. Buckner listed Shurden Owen's interest in the family trusts as an asset valued at \$1,483,241.00, when same is more properly identified and valued by the yearly income Mr. Owen receives from the trusts. (R.2, Pgs. 118-119). The trial court found trust income is exactly that - income. (R.1, Pg. 74). It should not be considered an asset. (R.1, Pg. 74). Upon Mr. Owen's death, his daughter will receive the trust income. (R.2, Pg. 118). Mr. Buckner's valuation of Mr. Owen's 19.13% interest in 2,994 acres at \$884,248.00 was incorrect because he did not take into account that Mr. Owen has an "undivided interest" in the land, which he admitted makes it worth less. (R.2, Pgs. 119-120). Mr. Buckner also did not include a \$564,958.00 contingent liability of Mr. Owen's in his net worth calculations, and he admitted Shurden was individually liable for this amount. (R.2, Pgs. 121-122). The trial court found Mr. Louis Jackson's testimony more compelling on the net worth issue. (R.1, Pg. 74). If Mr. Owen ceased farming and only had \$30,854.00 left over, such was an accurate picture of his current financial situation. (R.1, Pg. 74).

i

£

Mr. Jackson and Shurden testified that Shurden receives on average approximately \$50,000.00 annually in income from the referenced family trusts. (R.2, Pg. 137, R.3, Pg. 173). Mr. Jackson testified that in analyzing the parties' income tax returns, Shurden, on average, would make less than \$9,000.00 per year taking into account his farming operations and necessary accounting calculations on same coupled with his income from the trusts. (R.3, Pg. 184). Mr. Jackson did recognize that certain family expenses (such as car payments and car insurance) were run through the farming operations but doing so only increased Shurden Owen's debt. (R.3, Pg. 187-188). Edward Buckner, III, testified on behalf of Cindy, and he conducted certain income calculations

pertaining to Shurden Owen to arrive at an average adjusted gross income figure for Mr. Owen. (R.2, Pgs. 99-100). However, he included Cindy Owen's income in his calculations, which was admittedly improper. (R.2, Pg. 113). Mr. Buckner likewise did not include losses from the farming operations' S corporations in his calculations, but acknowledged that same were a real loss. (R.2, Pg. 113). Additionally, capital gains from the William Owen Gift Trust were distributed in error to Shurden Owen in 2001, in the amount of \$117,651.00 and in 2002, in the amount of \$96,152.00. (R.2, Pg. 114). Mr. Buckner acknowledged that since those payments will not and cannot be made in the future, same should not have been considered in his calculations. (R.2, Pg. 114). Finally, Mr. Buckner added to Shurden and Cindy's disposable income the equipment depreciation amounts reflected on the W & C Owen income tax return. (R.2, Pg. 115). However, there was no proof that Shurden and Cindy ever used those funds as disposable income. (R.2, Pg. 115). Moreover, if the couple had used those funds, that would have decreased the value of W & C Owen Partnership. (R.2, Pg. 115). The trial court found Mr. Louis Jackson's testimony more compelling on the income issue. (R.1, Pg. 75). Due to the fact that Shurden Owen would make \$50,000.00 annually if he ceased farming, the trial court used that figure as representative of his income. (R.1, Pg. 75).

-

.

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